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Vision
for the Waikato River Authority

Te Ture Whaimana o Te Awa o Waikato (Vision & Strategy)
Our Vision is for a future where a healthy Waikato River sustains abundant life and prosperous communities who, in turn,
are all responsible for restoring and protecting the health and wellbeing of the Waikato River, and all it embraces, for
generations to come.

“Tooku awa koiora me oona pikonga he kura tangihia o te maataamuri.”
“The River of life, each curve more beautiful than the last.”
These words form part of the Vision & Strategy for the Waikato River and are taken from the lament by Kiingi Taawhiao, the
second Māori King, in which he recorded his adoration for the Waikato River and the significance of the River as a treasure
for all generations.

He Maimai Aroha
Ka maatakitaki iho au ki te riu o Waikato
Aanoo nei hei kapo kau ake maaku ki te kapu o taku ringa,
Ka whakamiri noa i toona aratau
E tia nei he tupu pua hou.
Kia hiwa ake au i te Tihi o Pirongia,
Inaa, hei toronga whakaruruhau moona ki tooku tauawhirotanga.
Anaa! Te ngoto o toona ngawhaa i ngoona uma kiihai
i aarikarikia
a Maungatautari, a Maungakawa,
ooku puke maunga, ngaa taonga tuku iho:
Hoki ake nei au ki tooku awa koiora me ngoona pikonga
He kura tangihia o te maataamuri.
E whakawhiti atu ai i te koopuu maania o Kirikiriroa,
Me ngoona maara kai, te ngawhaa whakatupu ake o te
whenua moomona,
Hei kawe ki Ngaaruawaahia, te huinga o te tangata.
Araa, te pae haumako, hei okiokinga mo taku Upoko,
Hei tirohanga atu maa raro i ngaa huuhaa o Taupiri.
Kei reira raa, kei te oroko hanganga o te tangata,
Waahia te tuungaroa o te whare, te whakaputanga moo te Kiingi.

Portrait of Kiingi Taawhiao
Martin album. Ref: PA1-o-334-35.
Alexander Turnbull Library, Wellington, New Zealand. /records/23183173

Naa Kiingi Taawhiao

For more information and background about the purpose of the Waikato River Authority, visit www.waikatoriver.org.nz.
There is also a video on the website about the Waikato River Authority and its role.

Vision
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Teenaa koutou, teenaa koutou, teenaa koutou katoa,
The 2020 -2021 year has been an eventful one for the Waikato River Authority with a number
of challenges and highlights to reflect on.
Passing the milestone of 10 years operations and with it
the delivery of the second Five Year Report to River Iwi
and Crown has been a time of reflection on what has been
achieved and importantly what more there is to be done.

The Authority has taken the view that it is not in the best
interests of the Waikato River to give more water. The
Board of Inquiry hearings and decisions will be known in
the year ahead.

Our Five Year Report, Ka maatakitaki iho au ki te riu o
Waikato, gives us encouragement around the momentum
that has built to ensure a better future for the Waikato
River and Waipā River. The increased participation in
waterway restoration throughout the catchment by the
wider community, and in particular iwi, augurs well.
However, our Five Year Report clearly shows there is more
to be done. The NIWA assessment of a subset of Waikato
River Report Card indicators tells us that despite many
positive actions that have been taken, ‘deteriorating’ and
‘as likely improving as deteriorating’ trends dominate. We
need to move faster and more boldly on behalf of the awa.

In presenting this 11th Annual Report of the Waikato River
Authority, we again acknowledge the support of the five
Waikato River Iwi, along with the Crown, and the special
working relationship between the Authority and the
Waikato Regional Council.

Another significant undertaking by the Authority in the past
year was the formal beginning of the work to carry out a
review of Te Ture Whaimana o Te Awa o Waikato (Vision
& Strategy). As Te Ture Whaimana underpins all the work
of the Authority, the importance of what may come from
the review is significant. We are committed to a co-design
review process with our Crown and River Iwi appointers,
to ensure there is an inclusive process and understanding
by the appointers, should there be changes to the Vision
& Strategy recommended. The Vision & Strategy review
will not be a rushed process, and it will allow time for all
those with a connection and interest in the awa to have an
opportunity for input. We are not expecting the work to be
completed in the coming year.
The advocacy role for the Authority was also stepped up
in the past year with renewed and increased demands to
take Waikato River water out of the catchment. The Board
of Inquiry called to decide whether Auckland should be
permitted to take additional water from the awa has meant
the Authority taking a stand to oppose that happening.
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Tipa Mahuta
Iwi Co-Chair

Paula Southgate
Crown Co-Chair

Note: The Waikato River Clean-up Trust, the body
responsible for the allocation of funding for projects, was
formed at the same time as the Waikato River Authority
(which is the sole trustee of the Waikato River Clean-up
Trust). This Annual Report therefore includes the affairs of
both the Clean-up Trust and the Authority.

Ngaa Heamana Takirua
riipoata

Teenaa koutou, teenaa koutou, teenaa koutou katoa,
Ko 2020-21 he tau hiamo moo te Waikato River Authority me te aha araa noa atu te huhua
o ngaa kaupapa whakapaatari, kaupapa whakahirahira hei whakamaharatanga.
I tutuki ngaa wawata i wawatia e te roopuu whakahaere
moo ngaa tau tekau ka hori ka mutu i whakatakoto te
Riipoata Rima Tau tuarua ki ngaa iwi o te awa me te
Karauna hei tirotiro ki ngaa mahi kua tutuki me ngaa take
whai tikanga kei mua tonu i te aroaro.
Ko taa maatou Riipoata Rima Tau, Ka maatakitaki iho au ki te
riu o Waikato, he mea akiaki i a taatou hei whakatika i ngaa
awa koiora o Waikato me Waipaa moo ngaa uri whakaheke.
E matomato ana te tupu o ngaa kaupapa whakaora i ngaa
aaraawai hurinoa i te takiwaa naa te haapori whaanui, aa,
naa ngaa iwi hoki, he tohu ora. Waihoki, e ai ki taa maatou
Riipoata Rima Tau he nui tonu ngaa mahi e taarewa tonu ana.
E ai ki te aromatawai o NIWA i teetehi waahanga iti o
te Kari Riipoata o te Awa o Waikato e tuutohu ana ki a
maatou ahakoa ngaa mahi papai kua tutuki, ko te ‘tuukino’
me te ‘kore moohio meenaa e piki e heke ana raanei te
tuukino’ e pokea tonutia. Kia kamakama taatou, kia maaia
hoki e taea ai te tauwhirotanga i te hauora o te awa.
Ko teetehi atu take nui moo te Waikato River Authority i
te tau kua pahemo ko te tiimatanga ookawa o ngaa mahi
kia arotake i Te Ture Whaimana o Te Awa o Waikato. Ko te
Ture Whaimana te tuuaapapa o ngaa mahi o te Waikato
River Authority, he nui noa atu te mana o ngaa mea ka
takea mai i teenei arotaketanga.
Kei te ngaakau titikaha maatou ki te hoahoa takirua te
tukunga arotake me te Karauna me ngaa kaikopoua o
ngaa iwi o te awa kia whakaritea he tukanga kauawhi hei
whakamaaramatanga maa ngaa kaikopoua, ki te panoni te
Whakakitenga me te Rautaki kua whakatakotoria.

kaaore he painga moo te awa o Waikato ki te tuku wai
taapiritanga taaruarua. Toona tikanga ka puta te whakatau
a te Poari Pakirehua a teeraa tau.
E ngaakau nui ana maatou ki te whakatakoto teenei
riipoata tuangahuru maa tahi tau o te Waikato River
Authority, ka whakatairanga i te tautoko o ngaa iwi e rima
o te awa o Waikato, te Karauna, me te hononga motuhake
e paiheretia nei te Waikato River Authority me
Te Kaunihera aa Rohe o Waikato.
Ngaa mihi

Tipa Mahuta
Iwi Co-Chair

Paula Southgate
Crown Co-Chair

Noti: Ko Waikato River Clean-up Trust, te tarahati e
whakahaere ana i te puutea moo ngaa mahi whakatika
i te awa. I hanga ai te tarahati i te orokohanga mai o te
Waikato River Authority (ko te huatahi o te Waikato River
Clean-up Trust). Naa konaa e kapi ana teenei Riipoata
a-Tau i ngaa take a te Waikato River Clean-up Trust me te
Waikato River Authority.

Ehake i te mea ka horo te kookiri o teenei tukunga arotake
i te Te Ture Whaimana, aa ka whai waa te hunga e
whai hononga, e ngaakau nui ana raanei ki te awa ki te
whakatakoto o raatou ake whakaaro. Ko te whakapae e
kore e oti te mahi a te tau e kainamu mai nei.
I puea ake ngaa mahi kaiwawao a te Waikato River Authority
i te tau kua hori i ngaa tono whakahou, tono hao hoki ki te
tango i te wai mai te awa o Waikato i te riu hopuwai.
Naa te Poari Pakirehua te whakatau meenaa raanei e
aahei ana a Taamaki Makaurau ki te tango he wai taapiri
mai i te awa naa whai anoo ka whakaheetia e te Waikato
River Authority. Ko taa te titiro o te Waikato River Authority

Co-Chairs Report
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Project
Number

Organisation

WRA 13-041

Te Toke Ahu Whenua Trust

WRA 14-025

Ngāti Tahu–Ngāti Whaoa
Rūnanga Trust

22,265

Ngati Tahu-Ngati Whaoa Iwi Capacity Development

WRA 15-002

Mangapiko Stream Care Group

43,755

Lower Mangapiko Stream Care Group 2015

WRA 15-011

Landcorp Farming Limited

32,744

Te Kopia Road Swamp Restoration

WRA 15-030

Riverdale Group Ltd

358,715

Hooker Road Tamahere Riverbank Restoration

WRA 16-001

Ngāti Tahu–Ngāti Whaoa
Rūnanga Trust

160,311

Lakes Tutaeinanga and Ngapouri Riparian
Restoration

WRA 16-011

Waikato Regional Council in
conjunction with landowners

47,764

Lake Waahi wetland restoration – Wiakokowai arm

WRA 16-022

Waikato RiverCare Inc

64,025

Mangawara tuna and wildlife oxbow project

WRA 17-008

National Institute of Water and
Atmospheric Research (NIWA)

247,415

Fusion of maatauranga Maaori and science to
improve on-site marae wastewater management
through integrated constructed wetlands

WRA 17-017

Sir David Fagan

100,000

Fagan Family Partnership Mangarapa Catchment
Restoration Project

WRA 17-027

Te Ata Te Ao

WRA 17-036

National Institute of Water and
Atmospheric Research (NIWA)

WRA 17-037

Te Rūnanga O Ngāti Kea –
Ngāti Tuara Trust

WRA 17-041

John Missen

WRA 18-008

Waikato Regional Council in
partnership with Waikato Tainui
College for Research
and Development

WRA 18-010

Waikato Rowing Club

WRA 18-023

Waikato Regional Council in
conjunction with landowners

WRA 18-037

Waiterimu Golf Club

26,928

Waiterimu Golf Club Stock Exclusion and Riparian
Planting Project

WRA 18-039

Te Rūnanga O Ngāti Kea –
Ngāti Tuara Trust

67,745

Horohoro Riparian Planting – Stage 2

WRA 18-052

Waikato Regional Council in
conjunction with landowners

Waikato River Authority

Annual Report 2021

WRA
Investment ($)
119,908

4,600
30,000

3,761

31,095
110,607

72,015
117,300

1,609,989

Project

Te Toke Forest Wetland Restoration

Te Ao Puna Restoration – Te Puuaha
Waikato/Waipā River modelling framework

Water Monitoring of the Pokaitu River

Pukerangi
Fish Passage-Trap and Transfer Feasibility and
Kaitiaki Development

Waikato 100
Lower Waikato Stream and Hill Country Erosion
Protection and Remediation Project

Waipa Catchment Erosion and Sediment Reduction
Projects (2019-2020)

Project
Number

Organisation

WRA
Investment ($)

WRA 18-062

Kapuia Ltd

WRA 18-065

Raukawa Charitable Trust

65,047

Te Waotu me Arowhena Wahi Tupuna

WRA19-019

Duncan Oliver

26,000

Rangitoto Lands wetlands protection project

WRA19-023

Grant Clune

19,558

Waiora Awa Restoration Project

WRA19-068

Te Arawa River Iwi Trust

26,500

Te Arawa River Iwi Trust Tira Hoe 2020

WRA 20-034

National Institute of Water and
Atmospheric Research (NIWA)

22,500

Waikato/Waipaa River Dynamic Models
Prioritisation

WRA 17-014

Ngāti Tahu-Ngāti Whaoa
Runanga Trust

16,675

Investigation of Tuna, Koura and Watercress ponds
(Kai Bowl) for Cultural Harvest

WRA 18-036

Kowhai Media Limited

47,743

NZVR – Waikato River

WRA 18-055

Upper Maire Landcare
Society Inc

24,985

Mitigation of extreme weather events through
poplar planting on erosion prone hill country

WRA19-007

Mr Stu Muir

22,000

Te Papa/Mangati restoration project

WRA19-030

Black Pond Farm

14,545

Black Pond Farm, Mangatangi Stream Restoration

WRA19-035

Enterprise 303 Limited

15,272

Steiner Project

WRA19-080

Ngaa Uri o Maahanga Trust

25,000

Iwi Lakes 16 – Recognising and Honouring our SItes of
Significance – Waipa Peat Lakes Project

113,867

Project

Ngaati Maahanga – Identification, restoration and
protection of Waahi Tapu and Sites of Significance
(Puniu ki Ngaruawahia)

3,710,634

More information on completed projects is
available at www.waikatoriver.org.nz.
Many of the completed projects are featured in
our Project Stories section of the website. You can
also search the projects by number on our Funded
Projects map, also on the website.

Completed Projects
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Project Outcomes

611,352

native trees and shrubs planted

9,535

non-native plantings

136 km

waterway fencing completed

102

community engagement events held, and

2,107

people attended these events

415

hectares of land restored
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Planting on the banks of the
Pūnui River near Te Awamutu.

Project Outcomes
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Highlights

A major highlight for the Waikato River Authority in the
past year has been the completion of the Five Year Report
to River Iwi and Crown.

Waikato River Authority

Five Year Report

While this was a statutory obligation for the Authority, it
also provided an opportunity to detail and showcase the
work and effectiveness of the Authority and the Waikato
River Clean-up Trust from 2015 through
to the end of 2020.

Ka maatakitaki iho au ki te riu o Waikato

The Report also contains an interim assessment of the
Waikato River, undertaken by NIWA, that looks at a subset of
health and wellbeing indicators. More information about the
interim assessment is detailed later in this Annual Report.

Five Year Report 2021

The 80 page printed document is available from the
Authority’s office or can be viewed and downloaded from
www.waikatoriver.org.nz.

Five Year Report
2021
Ka maatakitaki iho au
ki te riu o Waikato

Increased funding to support
COVID recovery
The Authority increased the funding it made available
to restoration projects last year above the $6 million
it had orginally allocated. The increased funding was
both a recognition of the quality of project applications
as well as a desire to help provide economic support to
COVID-19 recovery.
A total of 38 new projects were funded in the 2020
funding round.

Change of iwi leadership
There was a change of Iwi Co-Chair on the Authority during the year with the election of Waikato-Tainui’s appointee Tipa Mahuta.
Ms Mahuta was elected unanimously by her iwi colleagues on the Authority board, after Roger Pikia (TARIT) stepped down
following a two year term.
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Ministerial Visit
Last year was a first for the Waikato River Authority, when
the Minister for Environment made a visit to Hamilton to
meet with board members.
Hon David Parker paid tribute to the previous Authority
board for the work achieved, while also recognising the
commitment shown by the current board to improving the
health and wellbeing of the awa.

Te Ture Whaimana review
The beginning of the process to review Te Ture Whaimana o Te Awa o Waikato (Vision & Strategy) was a significant
milestone for the Authority.
The Authority is required to review the Vision & Strategy every five to ten years.
The Authority decided to begin the review process at the end of the 2020-2021 year. The review will recommend to the
Crown and River Iwi what, if any, changes are to be made to the Vision & Strategy for their final decision.

Advocacy
The Authority had a key role to play in advocating for the
Waikato River as a result of Auckland wanting to take more
water from the river to address water shortages in the city.
The Authority took its place at initial Water Summits,
attended by Waikato-Tainui, the Waikato Regional Council,
Watercare and Auckland City Council. The first of these
summits also saw the Minister for the Environment Hon
David Parker and the Minister for Local Government Hon
Nanaia Mahuta attend.
The discussions around the Waikato River providing more
water for Auckland led to Minister Parker establishing a
Board of Inquiry to decide a Resource Consent application
for Auckland to increase its water take.

The Authority appointed three commissioners to river
related hearings and nominated a member, approved
by the Minister, to the Watercare Board of Inquiry. All
appointments are supported by River Iwi.
The Authority continued to advocate for improved nutrient
discharges within the catchment through appeals against
the decision of the Waikato Regional Council on Proposed
Plan Change 1.
Other advocacy involved submissions to Parliament on
Improving Whitebait Management.

Waikato iti
The Waikato River Authority Board and staff had the
opportunity to visit the source of the Waikato River,
Waikato iti on Ruapheu in February this year.
The visit followed on from a regular Authority board
meeting which was hosted in Tūrangi by Ngāti Tuwharetoa.

Highlights
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Looking Forward
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River First

Te Ture Whaimana Review

A major advocacy role for the Waikato River Authority in
the coming year will be to represent the interests of the
Waikato River and Waipā River for the Board of Inquiry
called by the Minister for the Environment.

The review of Te Ture Whaimana o
Te Awa o Waikato (Vision & Strategy) will be one
of the biggest pieces of work undertaken by the
Authority since it was established at the end of 2010.

The Authority is opposed to more water being taken from
the Waikato River by Auckland. The Authority is taking
a ‘river first’ approach in its submissions to the Board of
Inquiry which is expected to make its decision before the
end of the year.

The review process is being co-designed with River Iwi
and the Crown, who will ultimately decide on whether
there are to be any changes made to Te Ture Whaimana.

Waikato River Authority

Annual Report 2021

While it is hoped that substantial progress will be
made with the review this year, it is likely there will be
more work required in the 2022-2023 year.

Climate Change

Funding Strategy Review

A key focus for the Authority in the coming 12 months is to
ensure a Climate Change lens is applied to its work.

The Authority publishes its Funding Strategy each
year, which has seen incremental changes made each
year for the past ten years.

Following on from a previously hosted Climate Change
summit hosted by the Authority, additional attention will be
applied when funding projects and policy work to ensure
as much Climate Change mitigation as possible is achieved
through the role of the Authority.

This year the Authority intends a comprehensive
review of the strategy to incorporate the effects of
Climate Change on the Waikato River and Waipā River
catchments, as well as capturing a change in iwi and
community expectation around the pace at which the
awa is being restored.

Looking Forward
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Project
Number

Organisation

WRA 20-005

The Ani Waata Whānau Trust

451,340

The Mangeroa Gully Restoration

WRA 20-007

Waikato RiverCare Incorporated

129,091

Opuatia Catchment Project

WRA 20-008

Mr Charles Telfer

27,000

Mangaorongo Stream Restoration – Stage 1

WRA 20-009

Waikato RiverCare Incorporated

31,913

Taupiri Cemetery Planting Project

WRA 20-012

Waikato RiverCare Incorporated

111,830

WRA 20-015

*Wairakei Pastoral Ltd.

73,260

WRA 20-016

*Wairakei Pastoral Ltd.

167,088

Pueto Stream to Te Awa O Waikato Restoration

WRA 20-018

Waikato Regional Council

202,884

Restoring Minimum Water Level at Lake Kimihia

WRA 20-019

Kapenga M Trust

345,000

Kapenga Wetland Restoration

WRA 20-022

Te Runanga o Ngati Kea Ngati
Tuara Trust

91,708

Te Waea Wetland

WRA 20-023

Allen Fabrics Ltd on behalf
of Kimihia Lakes Community
Charitable Trust

11,770

Kimihia Lakes Upper Wetland Restoration

WRA 20-024

Nikau Estate Trust

WRA 20-025

Waikato Regional Council

98,229

Lower Pokaiwhenua Whakakaupapa

WRA 20-028

Mr Duncan Oliver

28,000

Rangitoto Lands wetlands protection project

WRA 20-030

Mr John Hall

99,745

Waikoha Farm Riparian Plan – Stage 2

WRA 20-032

Enterprise303 Ltd

WRA 20-034

National Institute of Water
and Atmospheric Research

WRA 20-035

Mr Poihipi Kukutai

WRA 20-037

Tainui Group Holding

95,276

Hopuhopu Puna Restoration

WRA 20-039

D & L Gamble Ltd

86,475

Tunaeke Stream Restoration Project

WRA 20-044

Mr Jason Tarawhiti

25,000

Tarawhiti Puna Restoration 2020

WRA 20-045

Upper Maire Landcare
Society Incorporated

50,000

Upper Maire sub catchment erosion and sediment
control and ecological enhancement

WRA 20-047

Landcare Research
New Zealand Ltd

WRA 20-048

Pou Kapua Creations Trust –
Kirikowhai Group

Waikato River Authority

Annual Report 2021

Funding
Granted ($)

634,203

213,919

22,500

266,529

161,017

25,000

Project

Smythe Farm Bridgewater property
Wairua O' Tahorakuri Wetland and Riparian Project

Matahuru Wetland Ecological Restoration – Stage 4

Lake Okowhao Puna, Stream and Wetland
Restoration
Waikato/Waipaa River Dynamic Models Prioritisation

Te Puke o Tahinga

Kei hea te Ruru e koukou? Kei hea te Kawau e rere?
(Where will the Ruru sing? Where will the Kawau fly?)
Healing Waters, Sacred Lands

Project
Number

Organisation

WRA 20-051

Enterprise303 Ltd

WRA 20-052

Waikato Regional Council in
conjunction with landowners

WRA 20-053

Funding
Granted ($)
23,165

Project

Steiner Project Continued – Puna and Stream
Restoration

1,025,000

Lower Waikato hill country and stream erosion
protection and remediation projects

Te Arawa River Iwi Trust

237,000

Ruahuwai Takiwa – 2.0 Smart Land Use Change

WRA 20-055

Waikato Regional Council in
conjunction with landowners

201,251

Central Waikato hill country and stream erosion
protection and remediation projects

WRA 20-056

Mr Stu Muir

WRA 20-057

Pūniu River Care

592,709

Te Manawanui o Waipa 2020

WRA 20-059

Waipa Rerenoa
Incorporated Society

201,250

Waipa Rerenoa Incorporated – Stage 2

WRA 20-062

Mrs Rina Lawson

WRA 20-063

Whakaupoko West Franklin
Landcare Group

WRA 20-064

*Riparian Developments Limited

WRA 20-067

Te Arawa River Iwi Trust

42,500

TARIT Fisheries Plan Update

WRA 20-068

Tūhourangi Tribal Authority

99,139

Whirinaki Restoration Project

WRA 20-070

Te Whakakitenga o
Waikato-Tainui

46,878

Waikato te Awa, katohia, katohia, he wai maau

WRA 20-071

AgResearch

91,110

Assessment of the social and cultural outcomes
of waterway restoration projects in the Waikato
catchment to support community wellbeing and
cultural revitalisation

17,982

7,845

20,000

158,898

Engagement and access to whitebait/wetland
restoration site

Reconnecting Ngāti Ahuru to the Pokaiwhenua awa
Project Plan
Reconnecting Waikato River to Waiuku (and the
Manukau Harbour) primarily via the Awaroa River
61 Griggs Road – Upper Mangapiko Stream
Restoration

6,213,504
* Project Withdrawn

More information on funded projects is
available at www.waikatoriver.org.nz.

Funded Projects
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Board Members
Tipa Mahuta – Co-Chair Iwi Appointee (Waikato-Tainui)
Kei te riu o Waikato, ko Rahui Pookeka, ko Waahi Paa, Ko Ngati Mahuta e tau ana.
Tipa Mahuta is from Rahui Pookeka (Huntly) and grew up with the impacts of the Huntly Power
Project and coal mining on local Marae communities. She collected oral histories from kaumatua and
supported the establishment of the tribal Tira Hoe, to return this history to descendants of the river.
Tipa has held a wide range of governance roles including Iwi and local government positions. Most
recently, Tipa was appointed as Co-Chair of the newly established Māori Health Authority.
Her other current roles include Deputy Chair, Te Whakakitenga o Waikato and councillor for Nga
Hau e Wha, Waikato Regional Council.

Paula Southgate – Co-Chair Crown Appointee
Paula Southgate is the Mayor of Hamilton and has extensive governance, community and
environmental experience. She has a strong understanding of water issues in the region, and cochaired Healthy Rivers: Wai Ora Plan Change. She is a former councillor and chair of the Waikato
Regional Council. She is also a member of Local Government New Zealand’s governance leadership
group on 3-waters (policy advisory/governance and strategy group).

Danny Loughlin – Iwi Appointee (Tuwharetoa)
Ko Tongariro te maunga, Ko Taupō te moana, Ko Tūwharetoa te iwi, Ko te Heuheu te tangata. Ko
Ngāti Ruingarangi, Ngāti Rauhoto rātou ko Ngāti Te Maunga ngā karangaranga hapū.
Danny Aperahama Loughlin is the iwi appointee for Tūwharetoa. He is General Manager for Ngāti
Tūwharetoa Fisheries Charitable Trust.
As a trustee of the Tūwharetoa Māori Trust Board for over 15 years, he has a responsibility as the
legal kaitiaki for Taupō Waters, including the Waikato River.
His current board responsibilities include: Tūwharetoa Māori Trust Board; Waikato Regional Council
Joint Governance Committee; Ngāti Tūwharetoa Fisheries Holdings Limited; Tauhara Moana Trust;
Tauhara Dairy Ltd; Healthy Rivers Plan for Change / Wai Ora – He Rautaki Whakapaipai Committee.
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Dylan Tahau – Crown Appointee
Dylan Tahau has worked as a senior leader in local government and the public sector and is an
experienced governor within Ngāti Tūwharetoa, representing the iwi in a number of forums for
several years.
He has served two terms on the Tūwharetoa Settlement Trust Board, which he previously chaired and
is also a director of the CNI Iwi Holdings company and other property interests for Ngāti Tūwharetoa.
Dylan has championed cultural integrity and knowledge with indigenous values in the community
and connects to his rohe and community. He has been involved with Te Awa o Waikato in many of
his roles, and has forged close connections with the awa and its people. He has a strong knowledge
of Te Ture Whaimana.
Dylan joined the Waikato River Authority board in 2020 as a Crown Appointee and was elected as a
Deputy Co-Chair of the board by his Crown colleagues in 2021.

Jackie Colliar – Crown Appointee
Ko Taupiri te Maunga, ko Waikato te Awa, ko Tainui te Waka, ko Waikato te Iwi, ko Ngaati Mahuta
tooku Hapuu, ko Taniwha raaua ko Waahi o ngaa Marae.
An experienced governor and director, Jackie currently serves as a member of the executive board for
Waikato-Tainui (Te Arataura). She is also a director of WEL Networks, and an intern member of the
Waikato District Council Water Governance Board. Jackie is also a trustee for Taniwha Marae.
Professionally, Jackie is an Environmental Engineer, Researcher and Infrastructure Strategist with over
20 years’ experience working for and with communities, local authorities, iwi and the private sector.
Jackie’s work currently focuses on three-waters infrastructure strategic planning and development.
Jackie is passionate and committed to the restoration and enhancement of the Waikato River and
actively works towards achieving the objectives of Te Ture Whaimana both professionally and in her
governance roles.

Nachelle Griffiths – Iwi Appointee (Raukawa)
Taku ara rā, ko Tūrongo, i wawaea ki te Tai-rāwhiti, Ko Māhinaarangi, ko te rua ra i moe ai a
Raukawa; he kāwei tautika mai ki ahau.
Nachelle is the Raukawa appointee to the Waikato River Authority. Her marae include Ōngāroto and
Mōkai which both sit in the upper river catchment near Ātiamuri, Aotearoa and Rawhitiroa/Owairaka
which both sit within the Waipā River catchment.
She has governance experience in commercial entities and Māori Authorities. These include overseeing
significant commercial investments in geothermal power generation, agriculture, horticulture, and
telecommunication investment. She also has a strong focus on sustainability and environmental
stewardship which is inherent in her roles at the hapū, Land Trust, and Iwi Authority level.

Board Members
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Stu Kneebone – Crown Appointee
Stu Kneebone is councillor on the Waikato Regional Council and a local farmer. He actively supports
initiatives that contribute towards catchment health, water quality and biodiversity enhancement.
Mr Kneebone has experience across local government and is committed to the local environment and
working with River Iwi. He’s been heavily involved in the Healthy Rivers/Wai Ora project change since
its inception, including Co-Chairing the committee that governed the project with River Iwi.
From a practical perspective, Stu has had an active involvement in Regional Council catchment
management restoration work, as well as extensive riparian restoration work on his own farm.

Roger Pikia – Iwi Appointee (TARIT)
Mai i te Waiheke o Huka, whakarāwhiti atu ki te mania o Kaingaroa, Ko te tihi o Kākaramea, puta
atu ki te pae Maunga o Paeroa, ko Ōrākei Kōrako te Ūkaipo, tae rawa atu ki Pōhaturoa. Ko te Awa
o Waikato kei waenganui. Arā, ko ngā tāonga tuku īho, o Tahumatua. Ko Ngāti Tahu-Ngāti Whāoa,
rātou ko Ngāti Tūwharetoa, Raukawa, Waikato-Tainui, Ngāti Maniāpoto me Ngāti Hikairo ōku Iwi ko
Roger Haare Charles Pikia tōku ingoa.
Roger Pikia remains as the only inaugural Appointee serving on the Waikato River Authority (WRA)
and Waikato River Clean-up Trust (WRCUT). He was formerly the Iwi Co-Chair of the WRA and the
inaugural Chair of the WRA Investment Committee, which was tasked with establishing a perpetual
fund by prudently investing surplus funds to help future proof the WRA and WRCUT. Roger was
a foundation member of the Guardians Establishment Committee (GEC) which was the pre-curser
to the WRA, tasked with formulating the vision and strategy which became the cornerstone of the
Waikato River Settlement and related legislation.
Roger is Chair of the Ngāti Tahu-Ngāti Whāoa Runanga Trust and a Trustee on the Te Arawa River
Iwi Trust (TARIT). He led the Waikato River Settlement negotiations with the Crown, for and on-behalf
of TARIT. Roger also co-led the Treaty Settlement negotiations for Te Arawa along with advancing the
interests of the Affiliate Iwi of the Te Arawa collective within the Central North Island Crown Forest
Licensed Lands (CNI) Treaty Settlement negotiations. Roger is currently the CEO of the Tahumatua
Investment Group of companies.

Wikitōria Tāne – Iwi Appointee (Maniapoto)
Wikitōria Tāne is Ngāti Maniapoto of Ngāti Urunumia, Ngāti Apakura, Ngāti Uekaha and Ngāti Unu
hapū descent.
Wikitōria has a keen interest in whakapapa and intra and inter relationships within the Tainui rohe
and beyond. Wikitōria has governance experience at marae, Māori Land Block, Land Incorporation
and Iwi Authority level. She is a Maniapoto Māori Trust Board trustee and works on taiao Resource
Management Act matters within Maniapoto and Tainui regions, with a particular focus on protection
and restoration of Waipā and Waikato Awa and their environs.
Wikitōria is a Director and Consultant of Manukarere Ltd and Co-Owner/Co-Director of Trust
Waiwaiā Ltd.

Erina Watene-Rawiri – Crown Appointee
Erina Watene-Rawiri is a freshwater scientist with a background in river and lake restoration, tāonga
species research, resource management and environmental planning. She is experienced working
at the interface between policy, mātauranga Māori, and science. She has governance experience on
Science Challenge, Iwi, and not-for-profit boards. Ms Watene-Rawiri grew up alongside the Waikato
River and has whakapapa connections to Waikato Iwi. Her strong technical expertise in freshwater
management sits alongside her community connections.
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A view looking out from Maniapoto’s Cave in the King Country.

Board Members
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Governance Meetings
Summary of attendance

Waikato River Authority Board
14/09/20

13/10/20

4/12/20

12/2/21

9/4/21

11/6/21

Tipa Mahuta
Paula Southgate
Danny Loughlin
Dylan Tahau

Apology

Jackie Colliar
Nachelle Griffiths

Apology

Stu Kneebone
Roger Pikia

Apology

Wikitōria Tāne

Apology

Erina Watene-Rawiri

Waikato River Clean-up Trust Meetings
14/9/20

13/10/20

12/2/21

9/4/21

27/4/21

Tipa Mahuta
Paula Southgate

Apology

Danny Loughlin

Apology

Dylan Tahau

Apology

Jackie Colliar
Nachelle Griffiths

Apology

Stu Kneebone
Roger Pikia

Apology

Wikitōria Tāne

Apology

Erina Watene-Rawiri
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11/6/21

Other Governance Attendance
Other governance meeting attendance during the year
included board workshops, board representation at
events, board working parties and new board member
induction meetings.

Number of
Meetings Attended
Tipa Mahuta

13

Paula Southgate

7

Danny Loughlin

6

Dylan Tahau

13

Jackie Colliar

10

Nachelle Griffiths

9

Stu Kneebone

12

Roger Pikia

7

Wikitōria Tāne

11

Erina Watene-Rawiri

11

Governance Meetings
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As at 30 June 2021

Nature of Business:
Trustee of Waikato River Clean-up Trust
Business Location:
21 Rostrevor Street, Hamilton
Bankers:
ANZ, Hamilton
ASB, Hamilton
Accountants:
KPMG, Hamilton
Auditors:
Audit New Zealand, Auckland
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Statement of Comprehensive
Revenue and Expense
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note

2021

2020

1,195,000

910,000

615

556

1,195,615

910,556

(630,112)

(514,645)

-

-

(630,112)

(514,645)

565,502

395,911

-

-

565,502

395,911

Revenue
Government grants

4

Finance revenue
Total revenue
Expenses
Other expenses
Personnel costs
Total expenses
Surplus / (deficit) for the period
Other comprehensive revenue & expense
Total comprehensive revenue & expense for the period

5

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Statement of
Financial Position
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note

2021

2020

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

6

589,799

1,182,637

Receivables

7

1,666,722

475,503

Total current assets

2,256,521

1,658,140

Total assets

2,256,521

1,658,140

112,644

79,765

Total current liabilities

112,644

79,765

Total liabilities

112,644

79,765

2,143,877

1,578,375

Retained Earnings

2,143,877

1,578,375

Total equity

2,143,877

1,578,375

Liabilities
Payables

8

Net assets
Equity

Tipa Mahuta

Paula Southgate

Iwi Co-Chair

Crown Co-Chair

22 November 2021

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

24

Waikato River Authority

Annual Report 2021

Statement of Changes
in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Retained earnings
Balance as at 1 July 2019

Total Equity

1,182,464

1,182,464

Surplus/ (deficit) for the year

395,911

395,911

Total comprehensive revenue & expense for the year

395,911

395,911

Balance at 30 June 2020

1,578,375

1,578,375

Balance as at 1 July 2020

1,578,375

1,578,375

Surplus/ (deficit) for the year

565,502

565,502

Total comprehensive revenue & expense for the year

565,502

565,502

2,143,877

2,143,877

Total comprehensive revenue & expense for the year

Total comprehensive revenue & expense for the year

Balance at 30 June 2021

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note

2021

2020

1,195,000

910,000

647

589

(578,497)

(486,455)

(1,209,987)

192,688

Net cash flows from operating activities

(592,837)

616,822

Net increase/(decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts

(592,837)

616,822

Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts at the beginning of the year

1,182,637

565,815

589,799

1,182,637

Cash flows from operating activities
Government grants received
Interest revenue received
Payments to suppliers and employees
Payments on behalf of Trust

Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts at the end of the year

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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6

Notes to the
Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

1. Reporting entity
The Waikato River Authority (the “Authority”) has been established by virtue of the provision of section 22(1) of the
Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010 and section 23 (1) of the Ngati Tuwharetoa,
Raukawa, and Te Arawa River Iwi Waikato River Act 2010. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with schedule 6 of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010.
The Authority has been established to restore and protect the health and wellbeing of the Waikato River for future
generations. Accordingly the Authority has designated itself as a public benefit entity (“PBE”) for financial reporting purposes.
The financial statements are for the year ended 30 June 2021.
The financial statements were approved by the Trustees on 22 November 2021.

2. Basis of preparation
a. Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, and the accounting policies have been
applied consistently throughout the period.

b. Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Authority have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (“NZ GAAP”).
The Authority has designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of complying with NZ GAAP.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with PBE standards RDR (Tier 2).
The Authority is eligible to report under Tier 3 as it is not defined as a large entity, has no public accountability
(as defined), and has expenses less than $2 million, but has elected to comply with PBE standards RDR (Tier 2)
in line with the Waikato River Clean-up Trust (the “Trust”). The Authority has taken advantage of all Reduced
Disclosure Regime (RDR) disclosure concessions, however it has elected to still provide a cash and cash equivalents
accounting policy.

c. Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

d. Presentation currency and rounding
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars ($), all values are rounded to the nearest dollar.

e. Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
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3. Significant accounting policies
a. Financial instruments
i. Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in term deposits, receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and payables.
Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value, plus, for instruments not at fair
value through Statement of Comprehensive Revenue & Expense, any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are measured as described below.
A financial instrument is recognised if the Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets are derecognised if the Authority’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial assets expire or if the Authority transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control
or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. Purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at
trade date, i.e., the date that the Authority commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial liabilities are
derecognised if the Authority’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and other highly liquid investments with
maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Authority’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the Statement of Cash Flows.
Receivables
Receivables are recorded at the amount due, less any provison for uncollectability.
Payables
Payables are recorded at the amount payable.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months
after balance date, which are included in non-current assets.

b. Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Authority’s assets, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether
there is any objective evidence of impairment. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses directly reduce the carrying amount of assets and are
recognised in the surplus or deficit.
i. Impairment of loans and receivables
Impairment losses on an individual basis are determined by an evaluation of the exposures on an instrument by
instrument basis. All individual instruments that are considered significant are subject to this approach.
For receivables which are not significant on an individual basis collective impairment is assessed on a portfolio
basis based on numbers of days overdue, and taking into account the historical loss experience in portfolios with
a similar amount of days overdue.
The recoverable amount of the Authority’s loans and receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated
as the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e.,
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables with short
duration are not discounted.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed. The reversal does not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed.
The amount of the reversal is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue & Expense.
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c. Revenue
Revenue is measured at fair value. Revenue may be derived from either exchange or
non-exchange transactions.
Exchange transactions
Exchange transactions are transactions where the Authority receives assets or services, or has liabilities
extinguished, and directly gives approximately equal value to another entity in exchange.
The Authority receives the following exchange revenue streams:
i. Interest
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.
Non-exchange transactions
These are all other transactions which are not exchange transactions.
The Authority receives the following non-exchange revenue streams:
i. Government grants
Grants received from the government are the primary source of funding to the Authority and are restricted for
the purposes of the Authority meeting its objectives as specified in the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato
River) Settlement Act 2010. Government grants are recognised as revenue when they become receivable unless
there is an obligation to return the funds if conditions of the grant are not met. If there is such an obligation, the
grants are initially recorded as grants received in advance and recognised as revenue when conditions of the
grant are satisfied.

d. Lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in surplus or deficit on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease.
Operating leases are not recognised on the Authority’s balance sheet.

e. Income tax
In accordance with section CW 41(5)(a) of the Income Tax Act 2007 the Authority has been granted exemption from
income tax as outlined in section 32(5) of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010.
The Authority has been granted charitable status by the Charities Commission and is registered as a charity.

f. Goods and Service Tax
The entity is not registered for GST purposes and therefore the financial statements have been prepared on a GST
inclusive basis.

g. Equity
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is made up of retained
earnings.
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4. Government grants

Government grants received

2021

2020

1,195,000

910,000

1,195,000

910,000

The Crown provides $910,000 directly to the Authority to cover reasonable operational costs for the Authority and Trust.
In 2021 an additional $285,000 was granted for the production of the 10 year report. These transactions have been
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue & Expense. During the 2018 year, the Trust made the decision to
fund its own expenditure and accordingly grants made to the Trust in 2021 are nil (2020: nil).
The Authority does make payments on behalf of the Trust and the Authority is regularly reimbursed. Amounts that are
outstanding at 30 June 2021 are recorded as a receivable by the Authority in the Statement of Financial Position.

5. Other expenses
Note

2021

2020

Accounting fees

41,500

36,900

Audit fees - current year

19,678

19,138

17

-

162,082

159,171

Other expenses include:

Audit fees - prior year
Consultant and contractor fees
Trustees’ fees

12

5,172

5,200

Trustees' and governance expenses

12

819

799

Operating leases

10

4,237

4,237

396,608

289,200

630,112

514,645

2021

2020

Bank balances

589,799

1,182,637

Total cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Cash Flows

589,799

1,182,637

Other operating expenses

6. Cash and cash equivalents

The carrying value of cash at bank and short-term deposits with maturities less than three months approximates their fair value.
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7. Receivables
2021

2020

Prepayments

310

18,227

Interest accrual

151

183

1,666,261

457,093

1,666,722

475,503

Receivables from exchange transactions:

Reimbursement receivable from Waikato River Clean-up Trust

Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due, less any provisions for uncollectability. A receivable is considered
uncollectable when there is evidence the amount due will not be fully collected. The amount that is uncollectable is the
difference between the amount due and the present value of the amount expected to be collected.

8. Payables
2021

2020

Other payables

92,966

60,627

Accrued expenses

19,678

19,138

112,644

79,765

Payables from exchange transactions:

Short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable.

9. Financial instruments
Classification and fair values
2021

Note

Loans and
receivables

Other
amortised cost

Total
carrying amount

Fair value

Financial assets
Receivables

7

1,666,412

-

1,666,412

1,666,412

Cash and cash equivalents

6

589,799

-

589,799

589,799

Total current financial assets

2,256,211

-

2,256,211

2,256,211

Total financial assets

2,256,211

-

2,256,211

2,256,211

-

112,644

112,644

112,644

Total current financial liabilities

-

112,644

112,644

112,644

Total financial liabilities

-

112,644

112,644

112,644

Financial liabilities
Payables

8
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9. Financial instruments (continued)
2020

Note

Loans and
receivables

Other
amortised cost

Total
carrying amount

Fair value

Financial assets
Receivables

7

457,276

-

457,276

457,276

Cash and cash equivalents

6

1,182,637

-

1,182,637

1,182,637

Total current financial assets

1,639,913

-

1,639,913

1,639,913

Total financial assets

1,639,913

-

1,639,913

1,639,913

-

79,765

79,765

79,765

Total current financial liabilities

-

79,765

79,765

79,765

Total financial liabilities

-

79,765

79,765

79,765

2021

2020

Not later than one year

4,237

4,237

Later than one year and not later than five years

3,177

7,415

-

-

7,414

11,652

Financial liabilities
Payables

8

10. Operating leases
Leases as lessee
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Later than five years

The Authority leases equipment under an operating lease. The lease runs for a period of four years.
The Authority does not have the option to purchase the asset at the end of the lease term.
There are no restrictions placed on the Authority by any of the leasing arrangements.

11. Capital commitments
The Authority has no capital commitments (2020: Nil).
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12. Related parties
Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a normal supplier or
client/recipient relationship on terms and condition no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect the
Authority and Trust would have adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances.
Related party disclosures have also not been made for transactions with entities related to the Authority (such as funding
and financing flows), where the transactions are consistent with the normal operating relationships between the entities
and are on normal terms and conditions for such group transactions.

Transactions with key management personnel including Trustees
Key management personnel compensation comprised:
Note

2021

2020

Trustee fees
P Buckley

1.

Crown appointee

-

456

A Livingston

1.

Crown appointee

-

456

Hon. J Luxton

1.

Crown appointee

-

1,460

Iwi appointee

766

1,460

R Pikia
W Maag

2.

Iwi appointee

-

456

B Harris

1.

Crown appointee

-

456

Iwi appointee

479

456

D Loughlin
E Watene-Rawiri

3.

Crown appointee

479

-

J Colliar

3.

Crown appointee

479

-

S Kneebone

3.

Crown appointee

479

-

P Southgate

3.

Crown appointee

766

-

T Mahuta

4.

Iwi appointee

766

-

N Griffiths

5.

Iwi appointee

479

-

W Tāne

4.

Iwi appointee

479

-

5,172

5,200

5
Trustee expenses
P Buckley

1.

Crown appointee

-

104

A Livingston

1.

Crown appointee

-

44

Iwi appointee

109

296

R Pikia
W Maag

2.

Iwi appointee

-

116

B Harris

1.

Crown appointee

-

11

Iwi appointee

-

228

D Loughlin
3.

Crown appointee

141

-

J Colliar

3.

Crown appointee

105

-

S Kneebone

3.

Crown appointee

101

-

P Southgate

3.

Crown appointee

114

-

E Watene-Rawiri
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12. Related parties (continued)
Note

2021

2020

T Mahuta

4.

Iwi appointee

140

-

W Tāne

4.

Iwi appointee

109

-

819

799

5,991

5,999

Contractor expenses (1 FTE)

80,157

81,336

Total key management personnel compensation

86,148

87,336

5
Total paid to Trustees

1.

P Buckley, A Livingston, Hon. J Luxton & B Harris were removed 17 May 2020

2.

W Maag was removed 02 July 2020

3.

E Watene-Rawiri, J Colliar, S Kneebone, P Southgate were appointed 18 May 2020

4.

T Mahuta and W Tāne were appointed 02 July 2020

5.

N Griffiths was appointed 03 July 2020

Key management personnel have not entered into any transactions with the Authority other than the above.
Due to the difficulty in determining the full-time equivalent for the Trustees, the full time equivalent figure is taken as the
number of Trustees (2021: 10, 2020: 10).

13. Contingencies
The Authority has no contingent assets or liabilities to disclose (2020: Nil).

14. Subsequent events
The Authority has no subsequent events to disclose (2020: Nil).

15. Statutory Deadline Breach
This Waikato River Authority Annual Report has been completed past the statutory deadline of 4 months after the end of
its financial year, in terms of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010, due to COVID-19
restrictions beyond our control.
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Auditors Report

Independent auditor’s report
To the readers of Waikato River Authority’s
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021
The Auditor-General is the auditor of Waikato River Authority (the Authority). The Auditor-General has
appointed me, David Walker, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit
of the financial statements of the Authority on his behalf.

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Authority on pages 22 to 34, that comprise the
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement of comprehensive revenue and
expense, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date
and the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
In our opinion the financial statements of the Authority on pages 22 to 34:
•

•

present fairly, in all material respects:
¡

its financial position as at 30 June 2021; and

¡

its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with the
Public Benefit Entity Reporting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime.

Our audit was completed on 22 November 2021. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of
Directors and our responsibilities relating to the financial statements, we comment on other information,
and we explain our independence.

Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate
the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued
by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements
The Board is responsible on behalf of the Authority for preparing financial statements that are fairly
presented and that comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.
The Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable it to prepare
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible on behalf of the Authority for assessing
the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Board is also responsible for disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless
there is an intention to merge or to terminate the activities of the Authority, or they have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
The Board’s responsibilities arise from schedule 6 of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River)
Settlement Act 2010.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, as a whole,
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in
accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from
fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:
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•

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.

•

We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.
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•

We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the
Board and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Authority’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Authority to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included on pages 1 to 21, but does not include the financial statements, and our auditor’s
report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independence
We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the independence requirements of the AuditorGeneral’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional and
Ethical Standard 1: International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Authority.

David Walker
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Auckland, New Zealand
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Statement of Comprehensive
Revenue and Expense
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note

2021

2020

Settlement funds

*

-

-

Other revenue

4

1,255,338

557,115

Finance revenue

5

6,535,120

6,107,622

7,790,459

6,664,737

Revenue

Total revenue
Expenses
Depreciation

12

(30,160)

(34,207)

Amortisation

13

(3,077)

(3,077)

Other expenses

6

(1,878,395)

(1,849,746)

Grants payments

7

(3,234,425)

(3,520,555)

(5,146,058)

(5,407,585)

2,644,401

1,257,152

Gain / (loss) on investment revaluations

4,172,006

(195,231)

Total other comprehensive revenue & expense

4,172,006

(195,231)

Total comprehensive revenue & expense for the period

6,816,407

1,061,921

Total expenses
Surplus / (deficit) for the period
Other comprehensive revenue & expense

*Subject to the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010 the Trust is to receive settlement funds of $210,000,000
over 27 years (17 years remaining). Additional settlement funds of $10,000,000 will be received over 27 years (17 years remaining) under the
Nga Wai o Manipoto (Waipa River) Act 2012. Refer to note 10 for further details.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Statement of Changes
in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Revaluation reserves

Retained earnings

Total Equity

6,517,295

141,879,473

148,396,768

-

1,257,152

1,257,152

Other comprehensive revenue & expense

(195,231)

-

(195,231)

Total comprehensive revenue & expense
for the year

(195,231)

1,257,152

1,061,921

Balance at 30 June 2020

6,322,064

143,136,625

149,458,689

Balance as at 1 July 2020

6,322,064

143,136,625

149,458,689

-

2,644,401

2,644,401

Other comprehensive revenue & expense

4,172,006

-

4,172,006

Total comprehensive revenue & expense
for the year

4,172,006

2,644,401

6,816,407

10,494,071

145,781,026

156,275,096

Balance as at 1 July 2019
Total comprehensive revenue & expense
for the year
Surplus / (deficit) for the year

Total comprehensive revenue & expense
for the year
Surplus / (deficit) for the year

Balance at 30 June 2021

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Statement of
Financial Position
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note

2021

2020

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

8

6,645,665

7,514,884

Receivables

9

54,948

24,258

Funding receivable

10

6,922,357

6,922,357

223,049

356,283

11,295,012

13,193,074

25,141,031

28,010,856

GST
Other financial assets

11

Total current assets
Funding receivable

10

70,282,532

72,882,531

Property, plant and equipment

12

976,178

1,000,751

Intangible assets

13

9,234

12,311

Other financial assets

11

64,938,572

52,144,520

Total non-current assets

136,206,516

126,040,113

Total assets

161,347,548

154,050,969

Liabilities
Payables

14

2,565,196

2,403,567

Provisions

15

2,507,256

2,188,714

Total current liabilities

5,072,452

4,592,281

Total liabilities

5,072,452

4,592,281

156,275,096

149,458,689

145,781,026

143,136,625

10,494,071

6,322,064

156,275,096

149,458,689

Net assets
Equity
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Total equity

Tipa Mahuta

Paula Southgate

Iwi Co-Chair

Crown Co-Chair

22 November 2021

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note

2021

2020

7,333,000

7,333,000

GST

789,709

812,394

Interest revenue received

870,094

1,040,263

1,252,596

563,503

1,330

1,330

(922,549)

(2,153,734)

(4,397,317)

(4,578,363)

4,926,863

3,018,393

886,790

3,200,000

Purchase of investments through introduction of funds

(3,500,000)

(3,500,000)

Purchase of investments through reinvestment of funds

(3,177,284)

(75,110)

(5,588)

(28,634)

(5,796,082)

(403,744)

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts

(869,219)

2,614,649

Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts at the beginning of the year

7,514,884

4,900,235

6,645,665

7,514,884

Cash flows from operating activities
Settlement funds received

Dividend revenue received
Rent received
Payments to suppliers
Grant payments
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of investments

Purchase of property, plant, and equipment
Net cash flows from investing activities

Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts at the end of the year

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

42

Waikato River Authority

Annual Report 2021

8

Notes to the
Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021

1. Reporting entity
The Waikato River Clean-up Trust (the “Trust”) has been established by virtue of the provision of section 32 (2) of the
Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010 and section 33 (2) of the Ngati Tuwharetoa,
Raukawa, and Te Arawa River Iwi Waikato River Act 2010. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with schedule 5 of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010. Further legislation was
enacted in April 2012 and the Trust has to meet its obligations in accordance with the Nga Wai o Maniapoto (Waipa River)
Act 2012 from the Act’s establishment.
The Trust has been established to restore and protect the health and wellbeing of the Waikato River for future generations.
Accordingly the Trust has designated itself as a public benefit entity (“PBE”) for financial reporting purposes.
The financial statements are for the year ended 30 June 2021
The financial statements were approved by the Trustees on 22 November 2021.

2. Basis of preparation
a. Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, and the accounting policies have been
applied consistently throughout the period.

b. Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Trust have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (“NZ GAAP”)
The Trust has designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of complying with NZ GAAP.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with PBE standards RDR (Tier 2). The
Trust is eligible to report under PBE standards RDR (Tier 2) as it is not defined as a large entity and has no public
accountability (as defined) but has expenses over $2 million and less than $30 million.
The Trust has taken advantage of all Reduced Disclosure Regime (RDR) disclosure concessions, however it has
elected to still provide a cash and cash equivalents accounting policy and disclose the amount of additional grant
provisions made in note 15.

c. Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except where modified by the revaluation
of certain financial instruments.

d. Presentation currency and rounding
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars ($) and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar.

e. Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
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3. Significant accounting policies
a. Financial instruments
i. Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in term deposits, receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and payables.
Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value, plus, for instruments not at fair value,
they are recognised through the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue & Expense with any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative financial instruments are measured as
described below.
A financial instrument is recognised if the Trust becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets are derecognised if the Trust’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets
expire or if the Trust transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all
risks and rewards of the asset. Purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e., the
date that the Trust commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Trust’s
obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and other highly liquid investments with
maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Trust’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
Statement of Cash Flows.
Fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense/available for sale
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense are those that are designated
into the category at initial recognition or are not classified in any of the other categories above. They are included
in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of, or realise, the investment within 12 months of
balance date. The Trust includes in this category:
•
•

investments that it intends to hold long-term but which may be realised before maturity; and
shareholdings that it holds for strategic purposes.

These investments are measured at their fair value, with gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive
revenue & expense, except for impairment losses, which are recognised in surplus or deficit. The gain or loss does
not include interest or dividend income. On derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive revenue and expense is reclassified from equity to surplus or deficit.
Receivables
Receivables are recorded at the amount due less any provision for uncollectability.
Payables
Payables are recorded at the amount payable.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months
after balance date, which are included in non-current assets.

b. Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Trust’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there
is any objective evidence of impairment. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses directly reduce the carrying amount of assets and are
recognised in the surplus or deficit.
i. Impairment of loans and receivables
Impairment losses on an individual basis are determined by an evaluation of the exposures on an instrument by
instrument basis. All individual instruments that are considered significant are subject to this approach.
For receivables which are not significant on an individual basis, collective impairment is assessed on a portfolio
basis based on numbers of days overdue, and taking into account the historical loss experience in portfolios with
a similar amount of days overdue.
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The recoverable amount of the Trust’s loans and receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated as the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables with short duration are not discounted.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed. The reversal does not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed.
The amount of the reversal is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue & Expense.

c. Revenue
Revenue is measured at fair value. Revenue may be derived from either exchange or
non-exchange transactions.
Exchange transactions
Exchange transactions are transactions where the Trust receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished,
and directly gives approximately equal value to another entity in exchange.
The Trust receives the following exchange revenue streams:
i. Interest and dividends
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.
Dividends are recognised when the Trust’s right to receive the payment is established.
ii. Services
Revenue from services rendered is recognised in surplus or deficit in proportion to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the balance date. The stage of completion is measured with reference to the project milestones.
Non-exchange transactions
These are all other transactions that are not exchange transactions
The Trust receives the following non-exchange revenue streams:
i. Government grants
Grants received from the government are the primary source of funding to the Trust and are restricted for the
purposes of the Trust meeting its objectives as specified in the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River)
Settlement Act 2010. If the Trust is unable to cover its operating costs from government funding, then it is able to
use cash from its reserves. Government grants are recognised as revenue when they become receivable unless
there is an obligation to return the funds if conditions of the grant are not met. If there is such an obligation, the
grants are initially recorded as grants received in advance and recognised as revenue when conditions of the
grant are satisfied.
Settlement grants are measured at the present value of the revenue expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the settlement grants due to the passage of time is recognised
in finance revenue.
ii. Unwind discount on funding receivable
The increase in the government settlement grants due to the passage of time is recognised in finance revenue as
an unwind discount on funding receivable.

d. Finance revenue and expenses
Finance revenue comprises interest revenue on funds invested and gains on the disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets. Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of discount on provisions, changes in the
fair value of financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit and impairment losses recognised on financial
assets (except for receivables).
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
e. Grant expenditure
Grants are those grants awarded if the grant application meets the specified criteria and have been approved by
the Board. These are recognised as expenditure based on the deliverables and timeframe set out in the signed
funding deeds.
All grants will be recognised as an expense when a milestone is met, including a provision for costs incurred
between milestones. Grants that are not recognised are recorded as funding commitments.
For grants under $50,000, an 80% payment is made upfront and the remaining is paid on completion of the project.
Grants over $50,000 require evidence of deliverables completed before payment is made.

f. Property, plant, and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following asset classes: motor vehicles, office equipment, plant &
equipment, furniture & fittings, artwork, buildings and land.
The asset classes are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant, and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future
economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Trust and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.
In most instances, an item of property, plant, and equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is
acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset.
Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus or deficit.
Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits
or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Trust and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant, and equipment are recognised in surplus or deficit as
they are incurred.
Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant, and equipment other than land and artwork, at
rates that will write-off the cost of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives. The useful lives
and associated depreciation rates of major classes of property, plant, and equipment have been estimated as follows:
Office equipment

1.5 to 5.7 years

17.5%-67%

Building

14.2 to 50 years

2%-7%

Furniture & fittings

7 to 9.5 years

10.5%-21.0%

Motor vehicles

4.7 years

21.0%

Plant & equipment

5.7 years

20.0%

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year end.
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g. Intangible assets
Software acquisition and development
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use
the specific software.
Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use are recognised as an intangible
asset. Direct costs include the software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads.
Staff training costs are recognised in surplus or deficit when incurred.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised.
The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated
as follows:
Management software

10 years

10%

h. Impairment of property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets
The Trust does not hold any cash generating assets. Assets are considered cash generating when their primary
objective is to generate a commercial return.
Non-cash generating assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets held at cost that have a finite useful life are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depeciated replacement cost approach, restoration
cost approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure value in use depends
on the nature of the impairment and availability of information.
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the carrying
amount is written-down to the recoverable amount. The total impairment loss is recognised in surplus or deficit. The
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.

i.

Provisions
A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when there is a present obligation
(either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that expenditure will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised in finance expenses.

j.

Income tax
In accordance with schedule 5 of Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010 the Trust
has been granted exemption from income tax. Income Tax Act 2007 section CW 41 specifies non business revenue
will be exempt from tax. The Trust has been granted charitable status by the Charities Commission and is registered
as a charity.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
k. Goods and Services Tax
All items are stated exclusive of GST except for receivables and payables, which are presented on a GST inclusive
basis. The GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is
classified as an operating cash flow in the Statement of Cash Flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

l.

Equity
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated into the
following components:
•
•

Retained earnings
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense reserve.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense reserve
This reserve comprises the cumulative net change of financial assets classified at fair value through other
comprehensive revenue and expense (otherwise known as “available for sale” financial assets).

m. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, the Trust has made estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:
i. Settlement funds and funding receivable
Refer to note 10.
ii. Grant provisions
Refer to note 15.

4. Other revenue

Lease revenue
Rent received
Dividends received

2021

2020

1,156

1,156

-

-

1,254,183

555,959

1,255,338

557,115

The Crown provides $910,000 directly to the Authority to cover reasonable operational costs for the Authority and Trust.
In 2021, an additional $285,000 was granted for the production of the 10 year report. In 2018 the Trust made a decision
to fund its own expenditure. The Authority does make payments on behalf of the Trust and the Authority is regularly
reimbursed. Amounts that are outstanding at 30 June 2021 are recorded as a payable to the Authority in the Statement of
Financial Position.

5. Finance revenue

Interest on term deposits and investments
Unwind discount on funding receivable
Capital gain on sale of investments

48

Waikato River Authority

Annual Report 2021

2021

2020

915,330

1,069,800

4,733,000

4,878,347

886,790

159,475

6,535,120

6,107,622

6. Other expenses
Note

2021

2020

Accounting fees

49,660

48,766

Audit fees - current year

38,788

38,005

-

-

868,773

849,899

Other expenses include:

Audit fees - prior year
Consultant and contractor fees
Trustees’ fees

18

94,390

53,851

Trustees' and governance expenses

18

9,402

3,344

817,382

855,881

1,878,395

1,849,746

Other operating expenses

7. Grants
2021

2020

2021

2020

3,500

16,600

-

-

AgResearch

40,383

-

34,783

-

Ata Te Aho

(11,274)

5,781

2,393

7,457

B Ormsby

18,942

15,448

14,652

34,104

B Stewart

2,235

7,173

J Missen

-

-

Beef & Lamb NZ

1,345

62,636

J Tarawhiti

-

16,696

Boffa Miskell Ltd

18,258

45,294

J Hall

10,915

-

-

1,050

K & K Bucher

(3,735)

(8,509)

C Telfer

18,783

-

Kapuia Ltd

23,780

63,367

D Barke

700

(4,100)

10,235

-

D & L Gamble Ltd

2,066

-

Kimihia Lakes Community
Charitable Trust

Dairy NZ Limited

485

(485)

6,733

(8,696)

(79,381)

315,521

17,807

14,745

24,348

22,609

3,120

15,306

E Berryman-Kemp

-

(4,348)

Landcare Research
New Zealand Ltd

17,148

-

Enterprise 303 Ltd

25,647

10,624

Landcorp Farming Ltd

3,753

(3,656)

ESR Limited

28,725

23,434

L Birch

23,280

-

G Clune

-

17,007

M Cane

1,390

12,505

G Williams

-

3,736

-

(50,568)

Graymatter Limited

12,755

-

Greening Taupo

16,053

(3,605)

Mangapiko Stream
Care Group

2,929

-

2,530

10,118

Mangatangi Marae Trustees

13,728

-

A Wills

C Lea

Department of Conservation
D Oliver

H Brown & R Budd

H Esendam
H Clarke
I Balme
J Mills

Kowhai Media Ltd
Kukutaruhe Education Trust
L Phipps

Mangakotukutuku Stream
Care Group
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7. Grants (continued)
2021

2020

2021

2020

-

2,130

Taniwha Marae

11,634

27,324

Maniapoto Māori Trust Board

45,344

(57,541)

Te Arawa Lakes Trust

12,270

8,152

Mercury

34,436

(32,200)

136,508

87,299

Morphum Environmental
Limited

35,806

47,546

Te Awa River Ride
Charitable Trust

19,503

30,961

New Zealand Rowing
Association Inc

88,323

91,535

Te Kauae Marae

25,266

11,949

Te Runanga O Ngāti Kea
Ngāti Tuara Trust

85,476

83,280

Ngaa Uri o Maahanga Trust

17,391

-

148,111

191,521

Te Whakakitenga O
Waikato-Tainui

30,000

-

Ngāti Koroki Kahukura Trust

45,217

-

The Ani Waata Whānau Trust

46,412

-

Ngāti Tahu-Ngāti Whaoa
Runanga Trust

39,397

33,409

The Kukutaaruhe Trust

11,826

-

Nikau Family Estate Trust

-

(529)

Upper Maire Land Care
Society Inc

4,345

22,576
-

12,671

Waahi Whaanui Trust

-

(158,072)

102,174

142,027

Waikare Marae

-

-

NIWA-Waikato Raupatu
River Trust

34,126

39,295

Waikato District Council

8,695

296,103
-

(8,623)

46,374

Waikato District Council &
Ngaati Haua Mahi Trust

118,198

NZ Landcare Trust
Pou Kapua Creations Trust Kirikowhai Group

17,391

-

Waikato Local Authority
Shared Services

-

34,783

Pukeroa Hangatiki A55 Trust

(15,485)

-

Waikato Regional Council

681,254

1,046,363

Punawhakaata ki Oruanui
Charitable Trust

(25,102)

-

Waikato Regional Council &
Te Arawa River Iwi Trust

125,322

75,683

Pūniu River Care Inc

580,537

463,247

Waikato River Care

143,920

7,553

R Bullock

5,750

10,697

Waikato River Trails

73,546

66,939

R Lawson

7,460

-

Waikato Rowing Club

2,622

6,000

Raukawa Charitable Trust

74,121

43,421

University of Waikato

(65,217)

65,217

Riverdale Group Ltd

18,216

965

-

39,238

2,788

1,157

61,053

26,957

757

19,452

Waikato-Tainui College for
Research & Development

16,335

-

Waipa Rerenoa
Incorporated Society

70,000

-

SMP Muir

-

15,304

Waiterimu Golf Club

2,709

11,888

Solid Energy NZ Ltd & Waahi
Whanui Trust

-

15,750

Waterside Planters Limited

22,739

5,880

South Waikato District Council

239

10,943

Whakaupoko West Franklin
Landcare Group

13,913

-

(10,824)

-

3,234,425

3,520,555

6,956

12,639

Mangatawhiri River
Catchment Care Group

Ngāti Hauā Mahi Trust

Nikau Farm Estate Trust
NIWA

S Francis
Sir David Fagan
S Muir

Sustainable Coastlines
Charitable Trust
Tainui Development Authority
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Te Arawa River Iwi Trust

Waikato-Tainui College

8. Cash and cash equivalents
2021

2020

3,536,645

3,948,798

-

500,000

Portfolio call accounts

3,109,020

3,066,086

Total cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Cash Flows

6,645,665

7,514,884

Bank balances
Term deposits with maturities of less than 3 months

Fair Value
The carrying value of cash at bank and short-term deposits with maturities less than three months approximates their fair value.
Portfolio call accounts
Portfolio call accounts are recognised at fair value. The fair value of the portfolio call accounts are determined by reference
to published current bid price quotations in an active market.
Cash funds
Cash funds are recognised at fair value. The fair value of the cash funds are determined by reference to published current
bid price quotations in an active market.

9. Receivables
2021

2020

25,431

23,641

649

23

26,080

23,664

28,868

594

28,868

594

54,948

24,258

Receivables from exchange transactions:
Prepayments
Receivables and other accrued income

Receivables from non-exchange transactions:
Other receivables

Short term receivables are recorded at the amount due, less any provision for uncollectability. A receivable is considered
uncollectable when there is evidence that the amount due will not be fully collected. The amount that is uncollectable is the
difference between the amount due and the present value of the amount expected to be collected.
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10. Funding receivable
2021

2020

6,922,357

6,922,357

70,282,532

72,882,531

77,204,889

79,804,888

Funding receivables from non-exchange transactions:
Current
Non-current

Under the terms of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010, the Trust is to receive
$7,000,000 each year over the next 17 years in settlement funding. This revenue has been recognised upfront and the
related receivable has been discounted back at 6.0% which was the upfront treasury risk-free discount rate at settlement.
The funding receivable of $119,000,000 has been discounted by $45659,182 to provide the present value of $73,340,818.
Under the terms of the Nga Wai o Maniapoto (Waipa River) Act 2012, the Trust is to receive $1,333,333 in year one and
$333,333 each year after over the next 17 years in settlement funding. This revenue has been recognised upfront and the
related receivable has been discounted back at 4.63% which was the treasury risk-free rate at 30 June 2012. The funding
receivable of $5,666,667 has been discounted by $1,802,597 to provide the present value of $3,864,070.

11. Other financial assets
2021

2020

10,542,825

10,087,934

752,187

3,105,140

11,295,012

13,193,074

NZ bonds (includes capital notes)

13,599,970

11,787,599

Listed shares in Australasian Equities

11,177,245

8,926,739

Listed shares in International Equities

17,623,425

13,852,080

1,217,658

878,344

PIE cash funds

21,320,274

16,699,758

Total non-current investments

64,938,572

52,144,520

Total other financial assets

76,233,584

65,337,594

Current investments
Term deposits with maturities of 4-12 months
NZ bonds (includes capital notes)
Total current investments
Non-current investments

International speciality funds

Fair value
Term deposits
The carrying amount of term deposits approximates their fair value.
Listed shares
Listed shares are recognised at fair value. The fair values of listed shares are determined by reference to published current
bid price quotations in an active market.
Bonds
Bonds are recognised at fair value. The fair value of the bonds are determined by reference to published current bid price
quotations in an active market.
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Speciality funds
Speciality funds are recognised at fair value. The fair value of the speciality funds are determined by reference to published
current bid price quotations in an active market.
Fair value hierarchy disclosures
For those instruments recognised at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position, fair values are determined according to
quoted market price (level 1) – Financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
Impairment
There were no impairment expenses or provisions for other financial assets. At balance date, none of these financial assets
are either past due or impaired.

12. Property, plant and equipment
Buildings

Land

Furniture
& fittings

Office
equipment

Artwork

Plant &
Equipment

Motor
vehicles

Total

Balance at 1
July 2019

575,278

314,077

18,839

89,878

168,000

670

65,589

1,232,331

Balance at 30 June
2020/1 July 2020

575,278

314,077

18,839

113,651

172,000

861

65,589

1,260,295

Additions

-

-

-

5,587

-

-

-

5,587

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

575,278

314,077

18,839

119,238

172,000

861

65,589

1,265,882

Balance at 30
June 2021

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1
July 2019

77,314

-

10,919

75,494

-

156

61,610

225,493

Balance at 30 June
2020/1 July 2020

90,459

-

13,221

90,257

-

71

65,536

259,544

Depreciation
expense

13,145

-

1,823

14,968

-

172

53

30,160

Elimination of
disposal

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balance at 30
June 2021

103,604

-

15,044

105,225

-

243

65,589

289,704

At 1 July 2019

497,964

314,077

7,920

14,384

168,000

514

3,979

1,006,838

At 30 June 2020/1
July 2020

484,819

314,077

5,618

23,394

172,000

790

53

1,000,751

At 30 June 2021

471,674

314,077

3,795

14,014

172,000

618

-

976,178

Carrying amounts
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12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Impairment
There have been no impairment losses recognised or reversed for property, plant and equipment (2020: Nil).
Work in progress
The total amount of property, plant and equipment in the course of construction is Nil (2020: Nil)
Restrictions
There are no restrictions over the title of property, plant and equipment. No property, plant and equipment are pledged as
security for liabilities.
Capital commitments
The Trust has no capital commitments (2020: Nil).

13. Intangible assets
Management
software

Total

Balance at 1 July 2019

73,649

73,649

Balance at 30 June 2020/1 July 2020

73,649

73,649

Additions

-

-

Disposals

-

-

73,649

73,649

Balance at 1 July 2019

58,261

58,261

Balance at 30 June 2020/1 July 2020

61,338

61,338

3,077

3,077

-

-

64,415

64,415

Balance at 1 July 2019

15,388

15,388

At 30 June 2020 and 1 July 2020

12,311

12,311

9,234

9,234

Cost

Balance at 30 June 2021
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Amortisation charge
Elimination of disposal
Balance at 30 June 2021
Carrying amounts

At 30 June 2021

There are no restrictions over the title of intangible assets. No intangible assets are pledged as security for liabilities.
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14. Payables
2021

2020

210,790

235,361

1,666,259

457,093

1,877,049

692,454

688,147

1,711,113

688,147

1,711,113

2,565,196

2,403,567

2021

2020

2,188,714

2,639,087

954,906

505,915

Amounts used

(416,723)

(476,561)

Unused amounts reversed

(219,641)

(479,727)

Closing balance

2,507,256

2,188,714

Current

2,507,256

2,188,714

-

-

2,507,256

2,188,714

Payables from exchange transactions
Payables and accrued expenses
Reimbursement payable to the Waikato River Authority

Payables from non-exchange transactions
Other payables

Short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable.

15. Provisions

Grant provisions
Opening balance
Additional provisions made

Non-current
Total provisions

Grant provisions
The current portion relates to grants that are due to be paid out in the next financial year.
For grants approved in the 30 June 2019 financial year and future periods the provision is calculated using an estimate
of costs incurred but not invoiced to balance date obtained from grant recipients. This represents a change in accounting
estimate for grants approved in the 30 June 2019 financial year. Due to changes to the way that grants are now
documented, funded and recorded it is impracticable to estimate the impact of these changes on the grant provision.
For grants approved before the 30 June 2019 financial year the grant provision is calculated in the same manner as
previous financial years. The grant provision is calculated by adding together overdue amounts (for grant project milestones
completed but not yet invoiced) and a provisional estimate. The estimate pro-ratas the next milestone amount due after
balance date over the period of the milestone that falls before balance date. Changes to the next milestone amount or
completion date will affect the amount and timing of the outflow of funds.

16. Capital management
The Trust manages its revenues, expenses, liabilities, and general financing dealings prudently.
The Trust’s equity is largely managed as a by-product of managing revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities, and compliance
with the Board’s instructions. The operating revenue and cash flows, including other comprehensive revenue, more than
covers the Trust’s operating expenses and cash outflows. As a result, the Trust’s capital base is maintained.
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17. Financial instruments
Classification and fair values
2021

Note

Loans and
receivables

Availablefor-sale*

Other
amortised
cost

Total
carrying
amount

Fair value

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

8

6,645,665

-

-

6,645,665

6,645,665

Receivables

9

29,518

-

-

29,518

29,518

Funding receivable

10

6,922,357

-

-

6,922,357

6,922,357

Other financial assets

11

10,542,825

752,187

-

11,295,012

11,295,012

24,140,365

752,187

-

24,892,552

24,892,552

Total current financial assets
Funding receivable

10

70,282,532

-

-

70,282,532

70,282,532

Other financial assets

11

-

64,938,572

-

64,938,572

64,938,572

Total non-current financial assets

70,282,532

64,938,572

-

135,221,104

135,221,104

Total financial assets

94,422,897

65,690,759

-

160,113,656

160,113,656

-

-

2,565,196

2,565,196

2,565,196

Total current liabilities

-

-

2,565,196

2,565,196

2,565,196

Total financial liabilities

-

-

2,565,196

2,565,196

2,565,196

Loans and
receivables

Availablefor-sale*

Other
amortised
cost

Total
carrying
amount

Fair value

Financial liabilities
Payables

14

2020

Note

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

8

7,514,884

-

-

7,514,884

7,514,884

Receivables

9

617

-

-

617

617

Funding receivable

10

6,922,357

-

-

6,922,357

6,922,357

Other financial assets

11

10,087,934

3,105,140

-

13,193,074

13,193,074

24,525,792

3,105,140

-

27,630,932

27,630,932

Total current financial assets
Funding receivable

10

72,882,531

-

-

72,882,531

72,882,531

Other financial assets

11

-

52,144,520

-

52,144,520

52,144,520

Total non-current financial assets

72,882,531

52,144,520

-

125,027,051

125,027,051

Total financial assets

97,408,323

55,249,660

-

152,657,983

152,657,983

-

-

2,403,567

2,403,567

2,403,567

Total current liabilities

-

-

2,403,567

2,403,567

2,403,567

Total financial liabilities

-

-

2,403,567

2,403,567

2,403,567

Financial liabilities
Payables

14

*Also known as Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expense
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18. Related parties
Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a normal supplier or
client/recipient relationship on terms and condition no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect the
Trust would have adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances. Related party disclosures
have also not been made for transactions with entities related to the Trust (such as funding and financing flows), where
the transactions are consistent with the normal operating relationships between the entities and are on normal terms and
conditions for such transactions.

Transactions with key management personnel including Trustees
Key management personnel compensation comprised:
Note

2021

2020

Trustee fees
P Buckley

1.

Crown appointee

-

3,648

A Livingston

1.

Crown appointee

-

2,736

Hon. J Luxton

1.

Crown appointee

-

10,950

Iwi appointee

19,008

23,242

R Pikia
W Maag

2.

Iwi appointee

-

3,876

T Houpapa

1.

Crown appointee

-

912

B Harris

1.

Crown appointee

-

2,280

Iwi appointee

5,030

2,759

D Loughlin
J Colliar

3.

Crown appointee

6,467

479

D Tahau

3.

Crown appointee

7,664

479

E Watene-Rawiri

3.

Crown appointee

7,425

479

S Kneebone

3.

Crown appointee

7,185

479

P Southgate

3.

Crown appointee

16,469

1,532

N Griffiths

5.

Iwi appointee

5,509

-

T Mahuta

4.

Iwi appointee

13,885

-

W Tāne

4.

Iwi appointee

5,748

-

94,390

53,851

6
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18. Related parties (continued)
Note

2021

2020

Trustee expenses
P Buckley

1.

Crown appointee

-

378

A Livingston

1.

Crown appointee

-

207

Iwi appointee

1,264

848

R Pikia
W Maag

2.

Iwi appointee

-

911

T Houpapa

1.

Iwi appointee

-

21

B Harris

1.

Crown appointee

-

98

Iwi appointee

239

454

D Loughlin
J Colliar

3.

Crown appointee

803

45

D Tahau

3.

Crown appointee

2,381

248

E Watene-Rawiri

3.

Crown appointee

565

57

S Kneebone

3.

Crown appointee

1,134

67

P Southgate

3.

Crown appointee

114

10

N Griffiths

5.

Iwi appointee

1,239

-

T Mahuta

4.

Iwi appointee

1,019

-

W Tāne

4.

Iwi appointee

644

-

9,402

3,344

Total paid to trustees

103,791

57,195

Contractor expenses (1 FTE)

278,805

282,908

Total key management personnel compensation

382,596

340,103

6

1.

1 P Buckley, A Livingston, Hon. J Luxton, T Houpapa & B Harris were removed 17 May 2020

2.

2 W Maag & R Mahuta were removed 02 July 2020

3.

3 J Colliar, D Tahau, E Watene-Rawiri, S Kneebone & P Southgate were appointed 18 May 2020

4.

4 T Mahuta & W Tāne were appointed 02 July 2020

5.

5 N Griffiths was appointed 03 July 2020

Key management personnel have not entered into any transactions with the Trust other than the above. Due to the difficulty
in determining the full-time equivalent for the Trustees, the full-time equivalent figure is taken as the number of Trustees
(2021: 10, 2020: 10).
The Trust Board members are not involved in approving any grant funding for organisations they are involved in. All grants
are approved at an arm’s length.
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During the year the Trust recorded grant expenses for the following funding recipients that are listed on the Trust
Register of Interests:
Organisation

Trust Board member

Position

Ngāti Tahu-Ngāti Whaoa Runanga Trust

Roger Pikia

Chair

Te Arawa River Iwi Trust

Roger Pikia

Chair, Trustee

Taniwha Marae

Jackie Colliar

Trustee Chair

Te Whakakitenga o Waikato

Jackie Colliar

Member, Taniwha Marae
Respentative

Waikato District Council

Jackie Colliar

Water Governance Board

Waikato Regional Council

Tipa Mahuta

Councillor

Waikato Regional Council

Stuart Kneebone

Councillor

Maniapoto Māori Trust Board

Wikitōria Tāne

Trustee

NIWA

Erina Watene-Rawiri

Staff
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19. Funding Commitments
Grants
The Trust has funding commitments relating to grant applications for the following funding recipients.

2021

2020

1,000

4,500

AgResearch

38,843

-

B Ormsby

12,455

31,397

B Stewart

6,955

9,190

Beef & Lamb NZ

-

11,739

Boffa Miskell Ltd

42,159

60,416

4,696

-

Community
Development Trust

13,043

13,043

D & L Gamble

73,130

-

3,674

-

Dairy NZ

-

485

D Barke

-

4,374

Department of Conservation

388,674

309,293

Enterprise 303 Ltd

216,674

36,271

19,958

48,682

138,208

150,963

Greening Taupo

-

16,053

H Browne & R Budd

-

2,530

H Clark

196,982

-

I Balme

-

2,393

J Hall

75,820

-

J Mills

31,435

46,087

J Tarawhiti

26,776

5,037

K & K Bucher

15,975

12,240

300,000

-

11,872

35,652

Kowhai Media Ltd

-

8,696

Kukutaruhe Education Trust

-

17,807

14,514

37,794

5,540

8,659

122,867

-

A Wills

C Telfer

D Barke

ESR Ltd
Gray Matter Limited

Kapenga M Trust
Kapuia Ltd

L Birch
L Phipps
Landcare Research New
Zealand Ltd
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2021

2020

Landcorp Farming Limited

-

6,169

Mangakotukutuku Stream
Care Group

-

50,678

333

1,723

195,777

258,530

3,432

17,160

46,153

46,153

-

34,436

33,927

69,733

5,000

5,000

14,167

102,490

4,348

21,739

Ngāti Hauā Mahi Trust

128,216

276,327

Ngāti Koroki Kahukura Trust

100,796

146,013

Ngāti Tahu-Ngāti Whaoa
Runanga Trust

123,701

184,768

Nikau Estate Trust

528,905

-

NIWA

160,870

243,478

-

34,126

47,561

47,809

4,348

-

-

-

441,697

506,835

4,060

9,810

70,791

144,912

Riverdale Group Ltd

-

17,377

S Francis

-

2,788

335

-

217,789

-

M Cane
Maniapoto Māori Trust Board
Mangatangi Marae Trustees
Mangatawhiri River
Catchment Care Group
Mercury
Morphum Environmental
Limited
New Zealand Farm
Environment Trust
New Zealand Rowing
Association Ltd
Ngaa Uri o Maahanga Trust

NIWA-Waikato Raupatu
River Trust
NZ Landcare Trust
Pou Kapua Creations Trust –
Kirikowhai Group
Punawhakaata ki Oruanui
Charitable Trust
Pūniu River Care Inc
R Bullock
Raukawa Charitable Trust

S McConnochie
S Muir

2021

2020

Sir David Fagan

-

757

SMP Muir

-

218,487

South Waikato
District Council

-

239

Sustainable Coastlines
Charitable Trust

2021

2020

375,000

-

Upper Maire Land Care
Society Inc

43,478

4,345

Waahi Whaanui Trust

60,540

256,498

University of Waikato

10,824

-

Waikato District Council

-

346
8,696

129,620

Waikato Local Authority
Shared Services

8,696

122,664

Waikato Regional Council

2,998,515

2,403,791

Tainui Group Holding

82,849

-

153,642

36,317

47,951

Waikato Regional Council &
Te Arawa River Iwi Trust

28,320

Taniwha Marae

-

12,270

Waikato RiverCare

422,504

340,621

Te Arawa River Iwi Trust

204,413

98,522

Waikato River Trails

66,737

140,283

Te Awa River Ride
Charitable Trust

270,237

289,740

-

30,000

56,217

117,271

Te Kauae Marae

70,928

96,194

Te Runanga O Ngāti Kea
Ngāti Tuara Trust

44,759

49,368

Waipa Rerenoa
Incorporated Society

105,000

-

Te Whakakitenga O
Waikato Inc

80,328

69,565

University of Waikato

-

309,783

Waiterimu Golf Club

-

2,702

The Ani Waata Whānau
Trust

346,058

-

Waterside Planters Limited

123,519

146,257

The Kukutaaruhe Trust

131,261

143,087

Whakaupoko West Franklin
Landcare Group

3,478

-

86,208

-

9,672,305

8,171,390

Tainui Development
Authority

Te Arawa Lakes Trust

Tūhourangi Tribal Authority

Waikato Rowing Club
Waikato-Tainui College for
Research & Development

Grants approved may include multiple grant applications/projects to make up the total included.

20. Contingencies
The Trust has no contingent assets or liabilities to disclose (2020: Nil).

21. Subsequent events
The Trust has no subsequent events to disclose (2020: Nil).

22. Statutory Deadline Breach
This Waikato River Clean-up Trust Annual Report has been completed past the statutory deadline of 4 months after the end
of its financial year, in terms of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010, due to COVID-19
restrictions beyond our control.
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Auditors Report

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of Waikato River Clean-up Trust’s financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021
The Auditor-General is the auditor of Waikato River Clean-up Trust (the Trust). The Auditor-General has
appointed me, David Walker, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit
of the financial statements of the Trust on his behalf.

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Trust on pages 38 to 61, that comprise the statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and the notes to the
financial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the financial statements of the Trust on pages 38 to 61:
•

•

present fairly, in all material respects:
¡

its financial position as at 30 June 2021; and

¡

its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with the
Public Benefit Entity Reporting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime.

Our audit was completed on 22 November 2021. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Trustees
and our responsibilities relating to the financial statements, we comment on other information, and we
explain our independence.

Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate
the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued
by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements
The Board are responsible on behalf of the Trust for preparing financial statements that are fairly
presented and that comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.
The Board are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board are responsible on behalf of the Trust for assessing the
Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Board are also responsible for disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless the Board
intend to merge or to terminate the activities of the Trust, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board’s responsibilities arise from schedule 5 of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu (Waikato River)
Settlement Act 2010.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, as a whole,
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in
accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from
fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:
•

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control.

•

We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.
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•

We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the
Board and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information
The Board are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included on pages 1 to 21, but does not include the financial statements, and our auditor’s report
thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independence
We are independent of the Trust in accordance with the independence requirements of the AuditorGeneral’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional and
Ethical Standard 1: International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Trust.

David Walker
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Auckland, New Zealand
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